

By-Laws of the
Perry County Economic Development Authority

Article I

Name and Purpose

Section 1-01 Name

The name of the authority shall be the Perry County Economic Development Authority (hereafter referred to as the Authority).

Section 1-02 Purpose

The mission of the Authority is stated as “Acting as a steward, the Authority will facilitate economic development that preserves and enhances the quality of life for Perry County.” The Authority acts within the authority provided for in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Municipal Authorities Act of 1945, as amended. The authorizing resolution approved by the Perry County Board of Commissioners on October 9, 1973 states that the Authority is to “exist and operate for the public purpose of alleviating unemployment, maintaining employment at a high level and creating and developing business and commercial opportunities by the construction, improvement, rehabilitation, and revitalization and financing of industrial, commercial, manufacturing and research and development enterprises.”

Article II

Membership and Officers

Section 2-01 Membership

The Authority shall be composed of 21 members appointed by the Perry County Board of Commissioners. All members shall be either a taxpayer of, maintain a business in, or be a resident of Perry County and at least 18 years of age. Members shall be of sound character and be willing and able to participate effectively in fulfilling the responsibilities of members of the Authority. The members shall have terms of appointment not exceeding five (5) years and those terms shall be staggered so that one fourth (1/4) of the members shall be eligible for appointment annually. Member terms shall expire on the first Monday in January. Member vacancies shall be filled by appointment of the Perry County Board of Commissioners as soon as practicable following the creation of the vacancy.

Section 2-02 Removal

Any officer, assistant officer, agent, or employee of the Authority may be removed from office or their authority revoked by an approved resolution of the Authority membership. This action may be taken when, in the judgement of the Authority members, the best interests of the

Authority will be served by such action. Such removal/revocation action shall be without prejudice to the rights, if any, of that person so removed, to receive compensation or other benefits in accordance with the terms of existing contracts.

Similarly, the membership of the Authority can recommend to the County Commissioners that a member be removed. This action may be taken when, in the judgement of the Authority members, the best interests of the Authority will be served by such action or the member fails to attend three (3) consecutive Authority meetings without an excuse.

Section 2-03 Officers

The officers of the Authority shall be a Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, and Assistant Secretary/Treasurer and those officers shall be elected from the members of the Authority at an Annual Meeting. No officer shall serve in a single position for more than five consecutive years. One or more additional officers, such as an Assistant Vice Presidents or assistant officers may be elected from time to time by the members of the Authority to fulfill specific needs or assignments.

In addition to the powers and duties prescribed in these By-Laws, the officers and assistant officers may perform such duties as from time to time shall be prescribed by the members of the Authority. The officers and assistant officers shall hold office until their successors are elected, unless they are sooner removed from office as provided for elsewhere in these By-Laws.

Section 2-04 Executive Board

The Authority shall have an Executive Board composed of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Secretary/Treasurer and two (2) At Large members. The duties and authorities of the Executive Board are as defined here or elsewhere in these By-Laws.

Article III

Offices and Organization

Section 3-01 Registered Offices

The registered office of the Authority shall be at the Veterans Memorial Office Building, 25 West Main Street, New Bloomfield, PA 17068.

Section 3-02 Other Offices

The Authority may also have offices at such places as the Authority members from time to time may appoint or the business of the Authority may require.

Section 3-03 Place of Meetings

The meetings of the Authority shall be held at the registered offices of the Authority or at such places within Perry County as deemed appropriate by a majority of the members and as designated in the public notice for that meeting. Members may, from time to time, designate a meeting location outside the limits of Perry County when, in their determination, such alternate location is appropriate.

Section 3-04 Annual Meeting

The Authority shall conduct an annual meeting within the first quarter of each calendar year at such time as may be specified by the Executive Committee. The purpose of the annual meeting is to review operations of the Authority during the immediately preceding year, elect officers, and transact such business as may be properly brought forth before the members. Notice of such meeting shall be advertised in accordance with applicable law.

Section 3-05 Regular Meetings

Regular meeting of the Authority may be held at such times as deemed appropriate and so designated by resolution of the members, but not less often than once each calendar quarter. All regular meetings shall be advertised in accordance with applicable law.

Section 3-06 Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Authority may be called at any time by the President or shall be called upon the written request of twenty five percent (25%) or more of the members delivered to the Secretary. The time, place, and purpose of any special meeting shall be clearly stated in the notice thereof and such notice shall be provided to all Authority members at least five (5) business days in advance of the meeting date. In the case of a special meeting called by at least 25% of the membership, it shall be the duty of the Secretary to issue the call for such a meeting. All special meetings shall be advertised in accordance with applicable law. If the Secretary shall neglect to issue such a meeting notice, the members making the request may issue the notice and advertise the meeting in accordance with applicable law.

Section 3-07 Conduct of Meeting

All meetings of the Authority shall be conducted in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order. If, from time to time, such rules are deemed overly burdensome by a majority of the members, other agreed upon procedures can be employed.

Section 3-08 Quorums

At all meetings of the Authority a majority of the members will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the acts of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be considered to be an act of the Authority, except as otherwise stipulated in law or elsewhere in these By-Laws. Each member of record shall be entitled to one vote, and such vote must be cast in person. One or more members may participate in the meeting and cast votes by means of a conference telephone or similar communications device provided all meeting participants can hear each other.

Section 3-09 General Powers

The governance of the Authority shall be vested in the members who shall represent and have full power to act for the Authority in the exercise of all its rights, privileges and powers and in the general management of its business.

Section 3-10 Corporate Seal

The corporate seal of the Authority shall have inscribed thereon the words “Perry County Economic Development Authority”, “Pennsylvania”, and the year of formation “1973”. Such seal may be used by causing it or a reasonable facsimile to be impressed or affixed as deemed necessary by the Executive Board.

Article IV

Powers, Duties, Agents, and Employees

Section 4-01 Chairman – Powers and Duties

The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the Authority and shall perform such duties as may be assigned from time to time by the members. The Chairman shall be a member of every committee appointed by the members, unless otherwise provided in the resolution creating such committee.

Section 4-02 Vice Chairman – Powers and Duties

The Vice Chairman shall, in the absence or disability of the Chairman, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Chairman; and if there be more than one Vice Chairman, their seniority in performing such duties and exercising such powers shall be determined by the

members or, in default of such determination, by the order in which they were first elected. Each Vice Chairman shall have such powers and duties as may be assigned to them by the members.

Section 4-03 Secretary – Powers and Duties

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Authority and record all the votes and minutes thereof in books to be kept for that purpose. The Secretary shall perform like duties for the Executive Committee of the Authority as required. The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Authority in accordance with applicable law. The Secretary shall also perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Authority or the Executive Board. The Secretary shall keep in safe custody the corporate seal of the Authority and may affix the same to any instruments requiring it and attest to the same.

Section 4-04 Treasurer – Powers and Duties

The Treasurer shall maintain custody of all funds and financial records of the Authority. All funds of the Authority must be paid to the Treasurer and shall be deposited in the name of the Authority in such bank or banks as the Authority may select. The Treasurer and any other member of the Executive Board shall sign all orders and checks for the payment of money in excess of \$500.00, and shall pay out and disburse such moneys under the direction of the Authority or its Executive Board. The Treasurer may sign all orders and checks for the payment of money in amounts less than \$500.00 with the approval of one other Executive Board member.

The Treasurer shall keep regular books of accounts showing receipts and expenditures, and shall render to the Authority at each regular meeting (or more often when requested) an account of his transactions and of the financial condition of the Authority. He shall give such bond for the faithful performance of these duties as the Executive Board may determine.

** Bylaws amended 3/08/16 – Increased dollar amount from \$200.*

Section 4-05 Assistant Secretary/Treasurer

The Assistant Secretary/Treasurer shall perform all duties of either the Secretary or the Treasurer in the absence or incapacity of the Secretary or Treasurer; and in the case of the resignation or death of the Secretary or Treasurer, the Assistant shall perform such duties until such time as the members of the Authority shall appoint a new Secretary or Treasurer.

Section 4-06 Executive Board

The Executive Board shall derive its authority from the full membership of the Authority. They shall have the authority to act on behalf of the full membership of the Authority on matters defined within these bylaws or with the specific approval of a majority of the Authority members at a properly convened meeting. These authorities include, but are not limited to, the signing of

contracts agreed to by Authority members at a properly conducted meeting, hiring of staff, agents, advisors or consultants approved by Authority members, applying for grants, approval of small expenditures for advertising and the like in amounts not exceeding \$200.00. At all meetings of the Executive Board a majority of the Board members will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the acts of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be considered to be an act of the Board, except as otherwise stipulated in law or elsewhere in these By-Laws.

Section 4-07 Delegation of Officer Duties

Any officer may delegate duties to their assistant (if any) appointed by the members; and in the case of the absence of any officer or assistant officer of the Authority, or any other reason that the members deem sufficient, the members may delegate or authorize the designation of those powers or duties, for the time being, to another member.

Section 4-08 Additional Duties

The officers of the Authority shall perform such other duties and functions as may from time to time be required by the Authority.

Section 4-09 Agents or Employees

Members may, by resolution, designate the officer or officers i.e., the Executive Board, who shall have authority to appoint/hire such agents or employees as the needs of the Authority may require

Section 4-10 Salaries

The members shall fix the salaries or other compensation of all agents and employees of the Authority.

Article V

Miscellaneous Provisions

Section 5-01 Authority Records

The Authority shall keep at its registered office records of the proceedings of the all Authority meetings, an original copy of all By-Laws and amendments thereto. The Authority shall keep at its registered office or at its principal place of business complete and accurate books or records of accounts.

Section 5-02 Right of Inspection

Every member of the Authority shall have the right to examine, in person or by written designation of agent/attorney during normal business hours, the books and record of accounts and record of proceedings of Authority meetings and to make copies thereof.

Section 5-03 Execution of Written Instruments

After authorization in the manner provided by law or in these By-Laws, all contracts, deeds, mortgages, obligations, documents, and instruments, whether or not requiring a seal, may be executed by the Chairman or the Vice Chairman and attested to by the Secretary or the Treasurer, or an Assistant Secretary or Assistant Treasurer. All checks, notes, drafts or orders shall be signed by two or more officers or agents as the Authority may from time to time designate.

Section 5-04 Transactions with Members and Officers

No contract or transaction between the Authority and one or more of its Members or officers, or between the Authority and any other Authority, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more PCEDA Members have a financial interest shall be authorized or entered into unless: (i) the material facts of that interest are disclosed or otherwise known to the Authority Members; (ii) the PCEDA in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by a two-thirds (2/3) of the PCEDA Members; and (iii) such contract or action is in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Interested PCEDA Members may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Authority which authorizes the contract or transaction.

Section 5-06 Indemnification

The Authority shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, civil, criminal, administrative or investigative by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a member of the Authority, or is or was serving at the request of the Authority as a director or officer of another Authority, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorney fees), judgements, fines, and amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in conjunction with such actions, suits or proceedings.

Section 5-07 Annual Audits

In accordance with Commonwealth of Pennsylvania requirements, the Authority will have an annual audit of its financial records completed by a certified public account (CPA) performed within the first quarter of the calendar year.

Article VI

Amendment of By-Laws

Section 6-01 Amendments

These By-Laws may be altered, amended, supplemented, or repealed by a vote of two thirds (2/3) of the full membership of the Authority at any regular or special meeting of the Authority duly convened after notice to the members for that purpose; or by unanimous written consent or consents of all members without a meeting. Voting can be accomplished by electronic means if so authorized by the Executive Board.